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          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Good morning,

          3  everyone. Welcome to this Civil Service and Labor

          4  Committee hearing.

          5                 I appreciate you all being here

          6  today. My name is Joe Addabbo, and I'll be chairing

          7  the Committee.

          8                 At this point, I'd like to thank

          9  those who have put this Committee hearing together.

         10  We have, to my right, the legal counsel for the

         11  Committee, Howard Gates. To my left, Joan Povolny,

         12  our Police Analyst. Steve Adenesio, my Legislative

         13  Aid. I want to thank the Sergeant-At-Arms for making

         14  sure this room is in order.

         15                 And, again, thank you very much for

         16  being here today.

         17                 Today's hearing, we're going to do an

         18  oversight on the prospective of the labor issues

         19  after the MTA take over the private bus service, and

         20  their private companies.

         21                 From January 3rd, 2005, to February

         22  20th, 2006, the MTA merged with seven private bus

         23  companies, and took over their daily Citywide bus

         24  service.

         25                 This merger affected not only
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          2  thousands, hundreds of thousands of City ridership,

          3  but also thousands of union and non-union workers

          4  and retirees who have previously worked for the

          5  private bus companies.

          6                 On November 10th, 2005, this

          7  Committee held a hearing on the labor issues that at

          8  that time impeding the takeover. And during that

          9  hearing some of the concerns raised were wages, job

         10  security, seniority, health benefits, pensions and

         11  contract negotiations.

         12                 Today we will revisit some of those

         13  issues and get an update on some of those items.

         14                 The completed transfer of the City's

         15  private bus lines was a complicated procedure. This

         16  hearing will explore the current state of the new

         17  MTA workers and those who have previously worked for

         18  the private bus companies, and the labor issues that

         19  have yet to be resolved. And I thank you all for

         20  being here today.

         21                 I will tell you at this point that

         22  the MTA was invited, but to our surprise they are

         23  not showing today. But they did send a letter. So I

         24  may read it for the record at this time.

         25                 Dear Chairman Addabbo, I am writing
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          2  in response to your Committee's invitation to

          3  testify on the labor issues related to the MTA

          4  recent takeover of the New York City's private bus

          5  lines.

          6                 I regret to say that the MTA will not

          7  be testifying at this hearing. As you know,

          8  negotiations with Transport Workers Union, Local

          9  100, are not unresolved" -- right, basically they're

         10  not resolved. It says not unresolved here -- "so it

         11  would be inappropriate for us to testify on labor

         12  issues at this time.

         13                 In addition, the MTA is currently in

         14  litigation on lawsuits filed by the non-represented

         15  employees from these companies.

         16                 I am naturally concerned about

         17  providing testimony about the very same issues that

         18  are a subject of those lawsuits while this

         19  litigation is still pending.

         20                 Sincerely, Katherine Lapp, Executive

         21  Director, MTA."

         22                 Rest assured that this Committee will

         23  follow-up with the MTA and with those who are not

         24  here today, and, again, in an attempt to address and

         25  resolve some of the labor issues. And those who are
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          2  here I do appreciate their time.

          3                 I want to welcome Committee members,

          4  Melissa Mark-Viverito, for being here. I know Larry

          5  Seabrook was here earlier, and I will introduce the

          6  Committee members as they do show.

          7                 At this point, I'm going to welcome

          8  our first panel, those to give testimony.

          9                 First is John Longo, ATU, Local 1179.

         10                 John, please step forward.

         11                 And Michael Cordiello, ATU Local

         12  1181-1061.

         13                 Gentlemen, thank you very much for

         14  being here today. If you could just please state

         15  your name for the record, and present your

         16  testimony.

         17                 MR. LONGO: John Longo, President

         18  Business Agent of Amalgamated Transit Union, Local

         19  Division 1179.

         20                 I want to thank Chairman Addabbo and

         21  the other members of the Civil Service and Labor

         22  Committee for inviting me here this morning and

         23  allowing me to testify.

         24                 Nearly three years ago when the

         25  Bloomberg Administration first decided to pursue a
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          2  takeover of the seven private bus companies that

          3  operate in the Boroughs of the Queens, Brooklyn and

          4  the Bronx, the Labor Unions involved advised both

          5  the City Administration and the MTA to bring all the

          6  parties together and resolve the many labor

          7  management service issues that need to be addressed.

          8                 We did this, not only because we knew

          9  that this was going to be a large, expensive and

         10  complicated undertaking, but we also knew that the

         11  three different labor unions representing the work

         12  force, each had a different collective bargaining

         13  agreement, side agreements and work rules.

         14                 We also had different medical and

         15  welfare plans, as well as different pension plans.

         16                 The City and the MTA ignored our

         17  request. Today, once after the last private bus

         18  company has been acquired, our labor union is still

         19  mired in litigation before the New York State

         20  Supreme Court with both the City and the MTA, in

         21  which we are seeking declaratory relief to protect

         22  our members' job protection rights on the August

         23  8th, 1975, Section 13C agreement.

         24                 Despite the best efforts of both

         25  labor and management, we still have unresolved
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          2  medical and pension issues, and the parties still

          3  have not negotiated new collective bargaining

          4  agreements.

          5                 This has led to anxiety and unrest

          6  among the labor force concerning their future.

          7                 ATU Local 1179 has had contract

          8  meetings with the MTA on May 10th, and we are

          9  scheduled to resume talks on May 17th. But there are

         10  still many complicated issues to be settled, and in

         11  my opinion, many more contract meetings will be

         12  required.

         13                 But any agreement our union makes

         14  with the MTA will have to ensure that jobs, the

         15  pensions, the health benefits, the seniority rights

         16  for thousands of dedicated transit workers is

         17  maintained and not diminished, and that the current

         18  level of benefits for our retired members is also

         19  maintained.

         20                 That is why the MTA bus company must

         21  be bound by the terms and conditions of the 1975

         22  Section 13-C agreement.

         23                 Concerning new equipment, it is my

         24  understanding that new buses have been ordered, but

         25  as of now only new express route buses have been
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          2  delivered.

          3                 The bus operators are on routes which

          4  are mainly local feeder routes, the subway and train

          5  stations are still driving old equipment, most of

          6  which is well past its prime.

          7                 We have received some additional

          8  hand-me-down equipment from other bus companies to

          9  provide more service, but because of the overall age

         10  of the fleet, we are still experiencing a high level

         11  of breakdowns.

         12                 The MTA bus company has made us many

         13  promises concerning service improvements to the

         14  public and in working conditions for our members.

         15                 But so far, few of those promises

         16  have been delivered.

         17                 I believe that MTA bus president Tom

         18  Savage and Chief of Operations Officer Joe Smith are

         19  competent and sincere in their effort to improve

         20  service to the public and working conditions for the

         21  employees, but because of the deterioration of the

         22  private system over the past few years, combined

         23  with the MTA's large monolithic system of management

         24  that we are now working under, it will take more

         25  time than expected for them to accomplish their
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          2  goals.

          3                 ATU Local 1179 was never opposed to

          4  the acquisition of the private bus lines by the MTA

          5  bus company. We were only opposed to the way the

          6  City was doing it.

          7                 The City Administration didn't have

          8  to treat the acquisition as a hostile takeover and

          9  systematically dismantle the bus service while they

         10  negotiated with the owners. But they chose to.

         11                 The City Administration didn't have

         12  to ignore the union's request to meet prior to the

         13  acquisition to discuss labor issues associated with

         14  the takeover. They chose to.

         15                 The City Administration didn't have

         16  to refuse to recognize the responsibilities and

         17  obligations as a subrecipient and overseer of the

         18  1975 Section 13C agreement, but they chose to.

         19                 Because of these decisions, it will

         20  now take longer and cost more for both labor and

         21  management to return the system to the level it

         22  should be at.

         23                 As of now, they're still uncertain

         24  how long it will take, but even if in the end the

         25  City Administration's decision to seek public
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          2  control of their private bus lines proves to be the

          3  correct decision, that end did not justify the means

          4  by which it was done.

          5                 Thank you for letting me testify

          6  today. I would be happy to answer any questions you

          7  may have.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you, Mr.

          9  Longo.

         10                 Mr. Cordiello, do you want to give

         11  your testimony, then we'll do questions.

         12                 MR. CORDIELLO: Good morning, Mr.

         13  Chairman, and members of the Committee. My name is

         14  Michael Cordiello. I serve as Recording Secretary of

         15  ATU Local 1181-1061. I would like to first thank you

         16  and the members of the Committee for allowing me to

         17  appear here today. I testify this morning on behalf

         18  of President Battaglia, who is scheduled for minor

         19  surgery.

         20                 Local 1181 represents approximately

         21  200 members of the MTA bus Spring Creek facility in

         22  Brooklyn, formerly known as "Command Bus."

         23                 Since the takeover began on December

         24  1st, 2005, the changes have been gradual and have

         25  been done in a way that has not changed the systems
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          2  that were in place.

          3                 For the most part, the contract in

          4  existence before this takeover is being adhered to.

          5                 As for the drivers, they have

          6  received new equipment, abundant overtime, a new set

          7  of work rules and there have been no changes to the

          8  current bus service, although the drivers are

          9  awaiting the summer pick, in which the MTA has said

         10  we'll have some changes.

         11                 In the Shop or Maintenance Division,

         12  our members have seen an increase in overtime, an

         13  improvement in working conditions, better tools and

         14  safety equipment, as well as new training classes.

         15                 Keep in mind, all of these

         16  improvements are at a cost which the City was not

         17  willing to give the previous private owners, but it

         18  seems to be spare no expense for the MTA.

         19                 These are the impacts to labor on a

         20  day-to-day level, but the real impact on the bigger

         21  picture as it relates to labor agreements has yet to

         22  be seen.

         23                 Since December there have been only

         24  two meetings with the MTA to negotiate a contract

         25  which expired on December 31st, 2004. The first of
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          2  these meetings occurred on March 13th, 2006 at which

          3  time President Battaglia gave the MTA our proposals

          4  and suggested that we settle a retro year of 2005

          5  first so that our members would receive any back

          6  wages promptly, and then negotiate a three-year

          7  contract subsequently.

          8                 There were two issues on the table

          9  for the 2005 piece. One which we mutually agreed to

         10  as to wages, and the other as to vacation time,

         11  which the MTA was supposed to respond to at our next

         12  meeting, and the 2005 contract would be done.

         13                 We met again on May 3rd, 2006. Only

         14  to find no research had been done on our open issue.

         15  I preface the next statement by saying I have

         16  negotiated or have been part of a negotiation on

         17  more than 15 successful contracts in the private and

         18  civil service fields over the last seven years. What

         19  occurred on May 3rd at the MTA headquarters did not

         20  appear to be negotiation. It appears that larger

         21  units get to negotiate while smaller units get to

         22  settle. We continue to hope that we will be heard on

         23  our specific issues.

         24                 That being said, six months may not

         25  be long enough to make any intelligent statement
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          2  about the impact on labor or what future contracts

          3  may look like, although we are still pursuing the

          4  13C provisions. Only time will tell.

          5                 Again, on behalf of President of

          6  Local 1181 Salvatore Battaglia, I thank you for

          7  allowing me to speak.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

          9  much.

         10                 Again, I want to welcome back Council

         11  Member Larry Seabrook. Before I get to questions

         12  from my colleagues, 1181 has 200 members or workers

         13  that are involved here.

         14                 1179 roughly, Mr. Longo, how many?

         15                 MR. LONGO: About 625 active and we

         16  have a little over 200 retirees.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: And the retirees

         18  obviously are at issue as well.

         19                 Just a point of clarification, and

         20  for the record. This takeover was, again, a

         21  complicated one. We had three unions involved, and

         22  just to a point of clarification, either one of you,

         23  and for the record, could we just delineate between

         24  the three, and then obviously how TWU falls in,

         25  Local 100, falls into the scheme of things.
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          2                 MR. LONGO: Well, there are three

          3  unions, well, there was ATU Local 1179, ATU Local

          4  1181 and TWU Local 100, the Private Division. These

          5  were the ones that were taken over. Of course, TWU

          6  Local 100 was the largest.

          7                 So, as Mike has said, they seem to be

          8  negotiating with them and then trying to settle with

          9  us, rather than sitting down and negotiating with

         10  each union individually. They wanted to negotiate

         11  with the largest and then just tell us, well, they

         12  took it, so you have to take it also. Which may not

         13  be in our best interest to do so.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: During the act

         15  of the taking of the negotiation, was there any talk

         16  about the unions changing their character, the

         17  locals changing their character, memberships

         18  shifting at all?

         19                 MR. LONGO: Not at this point. They

         20  are trying to do some commingling of employees,

         21  mostly in the supervisory ranks and with road ops,

         22  and all the unions, and we told them if they wanted

         23  to do that, we have zones of jurisdiction. Each of

         24  the three unions in there have zones of jurisdiction

         25  where their routes are and that's where they work,
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          2  and we don't trespass across each other's lines.

          3                 The MTA bus wants us to do that. We

          4  told them that it would have to be negotiated, even

          5  if we agreed with, if I agreed with MTA bus, allow

          6  our guys over there, TWU may not want our guys over

          7  there.

          8                 So, this is a contention and

          9  something that has to be negotiated and has to be

         10  reciprocal among the unions before it can be allowed

         11  to happen, but they're pushing for that type of a

         12  situation.

         13                 MR. CORDIELLO: Yes, similarly by us

         14  they tried to -- what they're trying to do in a

         15  shop, if a breakdown is in Brooklyn, the closest

         16  yard to Brooklyn. It could be any MTA facility that

         17  had the breakdown, they would want to send one of

         18  our mechanics, if it was closer to our yard. If our

         19  bus broke down in Manhattan, they would want to send

         20  an MTA from Manhattan. We've also resisted and feel

         21  that that's something that should be negotiated

         22  because you have different mechanics with different

         23  pay levels and pay scales, and we're not for the

         24  commingling at this time.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Like you said,
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          2  Mr. Cordiello, that is something to be negotiated

          3  most likely.

          4                 Mr. Longo, again, 1179, the

          5  timetable, do you have any idea, without getting

          6  into the specifics of the litigation, do you have

          7  any idea about the timetable for this litigation?

          8                 MR. LONGO: Well, we've been in court

          9  dozens of times before Judge Hart in State Supreme

         10  Court, and we're asking for declaratory relief in

         11  this, and we want him to give a summary judgment.

         12                 He's given a preliminary judgment

         13  where he said the City does have an obligation as a

         14  signatory to the August 8th 75 agreement to make

         15  sure that whoever comes in and runs these bus

         16  companies are the successor to those, to the old

         17  owners. And that as an overseer to the 75 agreement,

         18  they must maintain that level. And the reason they

         19  do that is because the City of New York has been

         20  eligible for hundreds of millions of dollars in

         21  federal transit grants over the years.

         22                 This 75 agreement was the City's

         23  authorization to receive those federal transit

         24  grants, and it was under Section 13C, Section 53 33B

         25  of the Federal Highway Transit Bill, and then they
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          2  were codified in separate contracts in, our year was

          3  1975, August 8th, 1975. They just took the language

          4  from that federal, and they put it into separate

          5  boilerplate contracts all over the country. And

          6  those boilerplate contracts we used by different

          7  municipalities to request federal transit grants,

          8  since 1970s, and every time the highway transit bill

          9  is renewed, and every time you ask for a federal

         10  transit grant, that agreement renews itself

         11  automatically, and that's what's been happening

         12  through the years.

         13                 Now it comes time for the City to

         14  take the bus service from the private owners, which

         15  is their legal right to do, and to now give it over

         16  to the MTA. Yet, the MTA says we will not become the

         17  successor under that 75 agreement. It's the City's

         18  obligation to make sure that whoever they contract

         19  with to do these bus routes, accepts their

         20  responsibility as the successor under that 75

         21  agreement, and that's why we're in State Supreme

         22  Court, because there's labor protections, job

         23  protections. What the federal government says is,

         24  we're going to give you this money to the City of

         25  New York or any municipality, and we're giving you
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          2  this money to create jobs, not to diminish jobs. So,

          3  we want to make sure that the people that are

          4  working there have a living wage, that they've given

          5  good benefits, and that it helps to expand the

          6  economy of that locality. And right now the MTA bus

          7  does not want to assume their responsibility under

          8  that agreement and that's why we're in court.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: You have that

         10  lawsuit, plus with that you have contract

         11  negotiations. Actually, you both have contract

         12  negotiations pending.

         13                 MR. CORDIELLO: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: If you can both

         15  give -- see, this Committee is interested in the

         16  timetable. We want, obviously, these issues resolved

         17  as expeditiously as possible.

         18                 Can you go into it a little bit in

         19  further detail, you know, what kind of timetable

         20  you're looking at for contract negotiations?

         21                 I think, Mr. Longo, you have May 17th

         22  coming up.

         23                 MR. LONGO: Yes, tomorrow.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: And Mr.

         25  Cordiello, you mentioned May 3rd that you had one,
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          2  but you didn't feel that was much of a negotiation

          3  at all.

          4                 MR. CORDIELLO: Correct.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: So can we talk

          6  about possibly how quickly we can get future

          7  negotiation meeting, so that we can look to these

          8  obvious issues?

          9                 MR. CORDIELLO: The way we left off --

         10  I just have a quick comment. The way we left off was

         11  they'll get back to us and we'll arrange another

         12  meeting, but there doesn't seem to be any urgency by

         13  MTA to get anything done.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: And meanwhile,

         15  you're working under an expired contract, correct?

         16                 MR. CORDIELLO: Correct.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: And two weeks

         18  ago that you had what really wasn't a constructive

         19  meeting.

         20                 MR. CORDIELLO: No, we're hoping --

         21  we're still, via fax and telephone, trying to

         22  resolve that first year issue that we're stuck on,

         23  and if we're fortunate enough to do that, that piece

         24  of the puzzle can be resolved, but then we still

         25  have a three-year piece going forward that have to
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          2  start.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Mr. Longo?

          4                 MR. LONGO: We've had a meeting with

          5  them on May 10th and we're going back in there

          6  tomorrow on May 17th. The reason why these meetings

          7  were called was basically because we're dragging the

          8  MTA back into State Supreme Court before Judge Hart

          9  over a medical issue.

         10                 The way our medical plan was set up,

         11  under an arrangement with the City Administration,

         12  they would make up any shortfall or deficit in our

         13  medical benefit plan and our welfare plan, after the

         14  companies had put in their obligation to the plan.

         15                 Well, when the MTA bus first came in,

         16  they were not giving their obligation to the plan,

         17  and we went before the State Supreme Court and the

         18  judge more or less, didn't order them but said, hey,

         19  look, you've got to start paying this and they

         20  started paying.

         21                 When they started paying, the City

         22  stopped paying their portion. And so now we have to

         23  go back in the State Supreme Court to get them to do

         24  that. What they're trying to do is to force us into

         25  their medical plan. And the way the medical plan was
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          2  presented to us in its original format. It would be

          3  a diminishing of our retired members' medical and we

          4  told them we could not accept that. And we want to

          5  go by the 13C agreement.

          6                 Judge Hart has said in court that he

          7  doesn't want anything to change until he renders a

          8  decision in the case, so we're bringing it back

          9  before him.

         10                 We're also contemplating filing a

         11  charge with PER (phonetic) to go up before them.

         12  Because under the Triborough decision, which is

         13  codified under the Taylor Law, they're not supposed

         14  to be changing anything.

         15                 The thing is with the MTA they want

         16  to take the Taylor Law, and apply certain sections

         17  to you like you can't strike, but then other parts

         18  of the Taylor Law that benefit you they don't want

         19  to apply.

         20                 So, you know, they can't have it both

         21  ways, and that's what they're trying to do.

         22                 MR. CORDIELLO: John is exactly right.

         23  When we had a conversation with them at our

         24  negotiations, I asked them about the Triborough Law

         25  and they said it doesn't pertain to us, and neither
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          2  does 13C. But the first thing out of his mouth at

          3  the last meeting was, you know, you're under the

          4  Taylor Law, you can't strike. So, John is correct on

          5  that statement.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: As you both may

          7  know, this Committee has had a hearing on the

          8  Taylor, and, you know, it's the position of at least

          9  the Chair, that the Taylor Law needs to be looked at

         10  and examined. If you're being forced to work, we're

         11  just forcing your employer to negotiate in good

         12  faith, and that term "good faith" is ambiguous. So,

         13  this Committee is also looking at, obviously, State

         14  Legislature to amend the Taylor Law to at least make

         15  it a little bit more fair. So, I do understand your

         16  situation, and I appreciate that point of view.

         17                 I wanted to at this point welcome

         18  Council Member Mike Nelson, a Committee member, for

         19  being here. Thank you.

         20                 Any questions from my colleagues?

         21                 Council Member Larry Seabrook.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Thank you

         23  very much, Mr. Chair.

         24                 Just a quick question as it relates

         25  to Section 13 in the agreement which is statutory.
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          2  What is the rationale that the City and the MTA have

          3  for not following this statute in the law, and that

          4  the City itself is a recipient of funds for the

          5  federal government? I don't understand the rationale

          6  as to why, and they would lose out if they didn't

          7  follow it.

          8                 MR. LONGO: Well, I can't understand

          9  the rationale either.

         10                 But basically I think it's because

         11  they want to commingle us. They want to break down

         12  the zones of jurisdiction. They basically want to

         13  make one big MTA bus company where there's free

         14  movement between the different locals. And they

         15  think that this will be a hinderance to them on

         16  doing that.

         17                 All I know is that the MTA refuses to

         18  agree under that Section 13C agreement to become the

         19  recipient or become the new owners and carry on from

         20  the old owners all the contracts and everything and

         21  basically it's because they want to pick and choose,

         22  but that question should be asked to the people over

         23  at the MTA and to the City Administration who aren't

         24  here today.

         25                 MR. CORDIELLO: From what I got from
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          2  one of the meetings we had with them was their legal

          3  department feels that the funding stream is not

          4  directly to them, the federal government. And that's

          5  how they're saying they're not bound by the 13C.

          6  Isn't that what you got from them, John?

          7                 MR. LONGO: Yes, we got some of that.

          8                 But, see, under the 13C there is

          9  capital expenses that are given in different areas.

         10  Some of it is for equipment but some of it also is

         11  for bus depots. And the Commands Bus Depot was built

         12  with federal money. The one over at College Point

         13  that used to be Queens Surface, that was built with

         14  federal money.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Right.

         16                 MR. LONGO: So, 13C renewed itself and

         17  those were built, and as long as they continue to

         18  use those properties and those bus depots, 13C

         19  should apply to all the workers that are in there.

         20                 They don't want it to be that way. I

         21  think they're just trying to use it as a delay

         22  tactic. I think that they know that they are

         23  eventually going to lose this, but they're going to

         24  go to the lower courts, they're going to get a

         25  summary decision from them, and then they're going
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          2  to appeal it and appeal it again, and they're going

          3  to go the whole route up to the US Supreme Court

          4  with it.

          5                 I think that's what their intentions

          6  are.

          7                 But in the meantime, we have to

          8  protect our members' rights and protect their jobs

          9  and protect their benefits that we've struggled so

         10  hard to obtain through the years, and we're just not

         11  going to give them up.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Thank you

         13  very much, Mr. Chair.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you,

         15  Council Member Seabrook.

         16                 Council Member Mark-Viverito.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Thank

         18  you, Mr. Chair.

         19                 What are the next steps for both of

         20  you, in terms of your union? You had a stalemate?

         21  Are you looking at a potential strike? I'm just

         22  trying to see what the next steps are, since really

         23  it seems to be at a dead end. In what ways do you

         24  feel that we can be more supportive of your efforts?

         25                 MR. CORDIELLO: Well, the next step
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          2  for either one of us is to continue good faith

          3  bargaining on behalf of our members, and insist on

          4  more dates and put the issues on the table and try

          5  to get them resolved.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Well,

          7  how long are you willing to wait, if you're not

          8  getting a response?

          9                 MR. CORDIELLO: We're getting

         10  responses but they're slow to come.

         11                 I wouldn't say they're not giving us

         12  any response, and I'm sure they'll be quick to say,

         13  no, we're responding.

         14                 The responses are slow to come. For

         15  one thing, the reason that we haven't had a

         16  negotiation up until, I think it was March was our

         17  first one, they blamed the quagmire that they're in

         18  with the MTA and the Local 100. They said we have a

         19  lot of issues here, they had to put us on the back

         20  burner so-to-speak.

         21                 So, that's a part of the problem

         22  also, not having a contract with the MTA.

         23                 And as long as we push for dates, I'm

         24  sure they'll show up, but like I said in my

         25  statement, six months isn't enough time to tell
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          2  where they're going to go, and the only way we're

          3  going to know is to keep pushing forward and ask for

          4  more dates and negotiate in good faith.

          5                 MR. LONGO: Mike is right. They

          6  originally told us because of TWU's rejection of the

          7  contract by seven votes on the public side, on the

          8  TA side, they didn't have time for us, and they were

          9  renegotiating that.

         10                 Now that that seems to be off their

         11  plate for awhile now, because Peter Kalikow has said

         12  that he will not accept that second vote that they

         13  took, and they're going further with pursuing

         14  interest arbitration at this point. So now they do

         15  have a little more time for us.

         16                 The other thing is, we've used

         17  leverage against them with our medical. We have

         18  filed in State Supreme Court. Now they're afraid

         19  that if they go into State Supreme Court they will

         20  lose, and then a judge tells them that they must

         21  continue to fund the medical under the Taylor Law,

         22  that they'll now have to give us more. So now

         23  they're trying to sit down and talk with us.

         24                 The other issue is our pension. We

         25  froze our pension plan, and we have approximately
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          2  $80 million in our plan at this time, and they

          3  wanted us to merge it with their plan and we told

          4  them there's certain pension enhancements that we

          5  wanted put in prior to the merger and have them

          6  implement it at the time of the merger. We told them

          7  that we have amendments in the plan that we've

          8  negotiated with the former Green Bus Line that have

          9  not been implemented, and we want those implemented.

         10                 The City from Office of Management

         11  and Budget has put two trustees on to replace the

         12  Management Trustees from Green Bus Line and we've

         13  had pension board meetings with them and we've made

         14  motions to implement that.

         15                 And we're moving forward. Our plan

         16  right now is frozen and it was a fresh start with

         17  the MTA, so all new accruals for our members and the

         18  employees will be under the MTA plan, but all

         19  accruals that came under the former Green Bus Line

         20  will be paid out of the plan that we have over here.

         21                 So, one is under ERISA, one is under

         22  PERB, so we have two different plans and when they

         23  retire, they'll get two pension checks at this

         24  point.

         25                 Then eventually we hope to merge the
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          2  plan with the MTA plan, as long as these pension

          3  enhancements that we know we have, we have the

          4  funding for, are put into the plan and implemented.

          5                 MR. CORDIELLO: One of the problems

          6  that we're having with the negotiations is that

          7  they're trying to paint us all with one brush. When

          8  I say "us all," the union, the labor force. They're

          9  trying to paint everyone with one brush, with one

         10  settlement, and the problem really is that, as John

         11  is speaking to you about his issues, we have

         12  different issues. So, to us it's hard for you to

         13  paint us with one brush, when we have separate

         14  issues than John has. We all have to be spoken to

         15  individually and negotiate individual packages,

         16  because that's how you picked us up. Everybody had a

         17  different contract.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Thank

         19  you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: I think Council

         21  Member Mark-Viverito brings up a good point. A, it

         22  shows the complexity of who is being taken over when

         23  the MTA, the City decided that the MTA should take

         24  over the private buses, considering the different

         25  memberships, the different unions and the pension,
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          2  to me the pension issue is a huge one. And again, I

          3  hear her concern also, Council Member Mark-Viverito,

          4  about, you know, striking, and the idea we spoke a

          5  little earlier about the Taylor Law. But safe to say

          6  at this point there is no talk even about that.

          7  We're not at that point yet. We're far from that

          8  point, gentlemen?

          9                 MR. CORDIELLO: We're looking to

         10  negotiate.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Okay.

         12                 MR. CORDIELLO: We want to negotiate.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: And we

         14  appreciate that position.

         15                 Council Member Nelson.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you, Mr.

         17  Chair.

         18                 Good morning, Mr. Cordiello. Mr.

         19  Longo.

         20                 MR. LONGO: Good morning.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: If these were

         22  answered, I apologize. There was a meeting I had to

         23  attend, I might have missed this.

         24                 But what would you say the biggest

         25  problem is, the issues that you further support on,
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          2  would it be back wages and health benefits? Anything

          3  else besides that would be major?

          4                 MR. CORDIELLO: Back wages, health

          5  benefits and pension. The three top issues I think

          6  in any contract.

          7                 MR. LONGO: Yes, the same here.

          8                 It's back wages, like 2005 wages. We

          9  haven't got a wage increase on that. They put it off

         10  on the table for that 2005 piece, but there's always

         11  strings attached with the MTA, and that's what has

         12  to be negotiated.

         13                 Again, all of this could have been

         14  avoided if the MTA in the City would have brought

         15  all the parties together prior to the takeover. They

         16  could have brought the owners, the unions, the MTA

         17  and the City Administration and we could have sat

         18  down and cashed out all these very complicated labor

         19  management and service issues prior to the takeover

         20  a year before.

         21                 Not only would it have helped

         22  facilitate the takeover sooner, but we wouldn't be

         23  stuck in his quagmire now of trying to negotiate

         24  with three different unions, three different

         25  collective bargaining agreements and still trying to
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          2  provide service to the public out there. And it

          3  seems the MTA is moving in 100 different directions

          4  at one time, and sometimes they're moving at light

          5  speed, and in other areas they're at a snail's pace,

          6  and they can't seem to coordinate and bring

          7  everything together. Each time they took over

          8  another one of the private companies, it got worse

          9  and worse and worse.

         10                 Right now I think they're having a

         11  problem getting people, and getting people in there

         12  in the management end to help with this situation.

         13                 On our end, on Labor's end, right now

         14  we're about 70, 75 bus operators short, just at the

         15  JFK Depot and the Rockaway Depot. We're probably

         16  about a half a dozen more short in our maintenance

         17  department, and they haven't hired anybody. So,

         18  these are problems that are coming up. They wanted a

         19  full contingency of employees in place prior to the

         20  takeover, but after the takeover, as they expanded,

         21  as people retired, as people quit, as things they

         22  changed, they don't have in place a system where

         23  they can replace, and they told us to stop hiring at

         24  Green. Green stopped hiring when the takeover

         25  happened and we won't use their list of applicants,
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          2  they have to have their own list of applicants, so

          3  there's all these type of small issues that are

          4  coming up and they're coming to a head now, and this

          5  all should have been resolved prior to the takeover.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Hopefully.

          7                 Do you have any documented

          8  detrimental effects on service? I would imagine you

          9  do. You're presenting, your meeting tomorrow, I

         10  believe, Mr. Longo?

         11                 MR. LONGO: Yes, at two p.m.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: A well written

         13  out plan and feel semi-optimistic?

         14                 MR. LONGO: I think we're optimistic,

         15  because I think they want to finally settle our

         16  medical issues. They're finally realizing that they

         17  have to negotiate with each union individually and

         18  they're willing to do that. But of course we had to

         19  put the sword over their neck by filing in State

         20  Supreme Court, and I think we have a date set for

         21  May 31st in State Supreme Court, and I think that

         22  what they want to do is get something settled prior

         23  to going before Judge Hart, because Judge Hart I'm

         24  almost positive will tell them keep paying until you

         25  negotiate something. Just like he told the MTA that
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          2  they had to continue to pay.

          3                 So, the City and the MTA are in

          4  collusion on this. They are talking with one

          5  another, and when the MTA wouldn't pay their portion

          6  of our medical, the City was paying their portion.

          7  As soon as the Judge told the MTA they must pay

          8  their portion, the City stopped paying their

          9  portion.

         10                 So, they're playing a game here and

         11  what they're trying to do is to force us into a

         12  situation where we would have to settle for what

         13  they want to give us, rather than negotiate a

         14  medical plan with us.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Hard ball.

         16                 MR. LONGO: Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Well, thank

         18  you.

         19                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you,

         21  Council Member Nelson.

         22                 I am absolutely amazed that there is

         23  bus service today, considering all the complicated

         24  issues that still have yet to be, still to be

         25  resolved, given that the takeover happened, started
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          2  happening at the beginning of this year, and here we

          3  are in the middle of May.

          4                 But given the fact that the takeover

          5  was actually a year late, you know, I remember when

          6  the Mayor announced it back in that April I think of

          7  2004, but the fact that the actual takeover was a

          8  year late. And Mr. Longo, your point that these

          9  issues were foreseeable.

         10                 MR. LONGO: Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: These issues

         12  were foreseeable, but it does seem like there was

         13  somebody just waiting for the takeover to take

         14  effect and let the issue be somebody else's problem.

         15  These issues were foreseeable.

         16                 MR. LONGO: Well, right now it's the

         17  MTA bus problem, and Gary Lavison's (phonetic)

         18  because they've thrown everything into his lap. And

         19  he's trying to sort out this mess. Put it in the

         20  oven, like he says, and pull out a cake, and that's

         21  at the point we're out right now.

         22                 MR. CORDIELLO: We attempted to try to

         23  resolve some of these issues along with that. I

         24  mean, we've met with John and the MTA at various

         25  times, and they told us they couldn't negotiate with
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          2  us until they took us over.

          3                 Right, John?

          4                 MR. LONGO: Yes.

          5                 MR. CORDIELLO: So, they didn't have a

          6  willingness to even get any of those issues off the

          7  table before the takeover.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: That was a

          9  feeling I had gotten back in November of 2005 when

         10  this Committee had a hearing on this issue. It was a

         11  feeling that I had gotten since I sit on the

         12  Transportation Committee. And that Committee has had

         13  hearings on at least the bus service issues, and

         14  that's the feeling I have gotten. And to read this

         15  letter from the MTA today, that they couldn't show

         16  because there is pending litigation, is an easy way

         17  out.

         18                 I have been at hearings where with

         19  pending litigation, with the legal attorney sitting

         20  there, we can ask general questions and get answers

         21  to those general questions and still address the

         22  issues that are being litigated without getting to

         23  the merits of the case.

         24                 So, the fact that there is pending

         25  litigation is an easy cop out. It would have been
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          2  good faith for the MTA to show up here today. It

          3  would have been a step in the right direction. And

          4  the fact that I had to read, you know, a three

          5  paragraph letter, is disheartening, because that

          6  really doesn't show good faith. And to say that

          7  there's a pending litigation just, to me, is an easy

          8  cop out.

          9                 So, I'm hopeful that as -- we can't

         10  change the past, so all those issues that were

         11  foreseeable, should have been dealt with and were

         12  not, we can't change the past, but we can certainly

         13  work on the future. And I'm hopeful that with this

         14  Committee, in cooperation with those involved, we

         15  can get to these issues that again can be resolved,

         16  hopefully sooner than later, for the sake of the

         17  workers, and the sake of the City's ridership.

         18                 Question. It's come to my attention

         19  that former MTA employees, prior to the takeover,

         20  former MTA employees, that for whatever reason,

         21  stopped working for the MTA then were hired by the

         22  private bus companies, after the takeover and they

         23  reverted back to being MTA employees, were let go.

         24                 Any input on that?

         25                 MR. CORDIELLO: I think what you may
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          2  be referring to is some people who were let go by

          3  the MTA because of, you know, maybe they were

          4  disqualified by the MTA for some reason, those

          5  people I know would not be allowed back on.

          6                 I don't know about people who left on

          7  their own merit, and --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: You're right. It

          9  was the MTA workers at the time who were let go for

         10  a reason, something had happened on the job when

         11  they became private bus company workers, and some of

         12  them worked on good standing for many years as

         13  private bus company workers, but the moment they

         14  came back after the takeover as an MTA worker, a

         15  flag went up and they were basically let go again.

         16                 MR. LONGO: That's correct. But to my

         17  knowledge, none of that has happened over where we

         18  are. We do have a few people that had retired under

         19  the Civil Service pension and they're still working

         20  with us, because we're not under Civil Service at

         21  where we are, and they were court officers or

         22  whatever, and they've retired and they've come over

         23  to us and they're working over there.

         24                 I know that a few of them were

         25  disqualified because their paperwork wasn't in
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          2  order, and we're trying to get that corrected now,

          3  try and bring them back and see what happens.

          4                 They had the same problem when Green

          5  was there, and it was corrected under Green. We have

          6  one gentleman right now who was trying to help him

          7  sort out what's going on. He is a naturalized

          8  citizen but there was some problem with his

          9  paperwork the MTA didn't like and they pulled him

         10  right off the wheel over it until we can get it

         11  straightened out.

         12                 Outside of that, their work rules are

         13  a little different. They want to try to institute

         14  policies, and they all come from the TA MAPSTOA

         15  basically in their management, and they want to

         16  institute some of that. Sometimes it conflicts with

         17  what we had. But, you know, we talk different

         18  languages. They talk one language, we talk, you

         19  know, Italian and they talk French. But we went in

         20  there and now we're trying to coordinate that and to

         21  get a better understanding of each other's ideas.

         22                 It was done poorly when they first

         23  came in and they just hammered us with this stuff,

         24  and most of the employees didn't know what they were

         25  doing and they were doing it wrong. So, we had to go
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          2  in and say, listen, bring them in and tell them

          3  they're doing something wrong, you've got to show

          4  them what they're supposed to do. They like to put

          5  out a lot of memos. The problem with the memos,

          6  they're not given class training. Some guys read

          7  them, some guys don't read them, some guys read them

          8  and don't understand what they're reading and other

          9  guys just throw them in the garbage, you know, they

         10  don't care. And they just won't do it because it's

         11  put out by the MTA bus company.

         12                 So, you have to bring them in. You

         13  have to explain why you want them to do something in

         14  a certain way, and we're trying to work that out

         15  with the MTA right now. So, there's a lot of these

         16  issues. There are uniforms for our drivers, Green

         17  Line didn't give us our uniforms before they left,

         18  they've been in there for five months and still do

         19  not have new uniforms under the contract for our bus

         20  operators. They had a meeting about a week or so ago

         21  trying to choose uniforms. But everything, like I

         22  said, is very slow. It's a huge monolithic

         23  bureaucracy. There's levels and levels and levels of

         24  people that must sign off on everything and for

         25  anything to be done.
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          2                 And I think Tom Savage and Joe Smith

          3  are frustrated also by what's going on.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: It's a big

          5  endeavor.

          6                 MR. LONGO: Yes.

          7                 MR. CORDIELLO: Yes, I just wanted to

          8  say that no one at our location, at Spring Creek,

          9  was let go because of those circumstances, but we

         10  were made to understand that would be the

         11  circumstance, if they were disqualified from the TA

         12  at a previous point.

         13                 But we haven't had anyone

         14  disqualified for that reason.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: A number of

         16  issues that I guess I was concerned prior to the

         17  takeover and it seems to have lingered on after the

         18  takeover, too, is that of wage parity. Basically

         19  somebody who has worked with the private buses for

         20  -- the private bus companies for 15, 20 years, now

         21  becomes an MTA worker, how is their wages, as

         22  opposed to working side-by-side with an MTA worker,

         23  doing the similar job, okay? How are their wages

         24  compared?

         25                 And also a second issue, promotions.
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          2  Again, somebody with seniority at a private bus

          3  company comes over to the MTA, are they perceived as

          4  a new MTA worker forfeiting their seniority with the

          5  private buses, or private bus companies, how are

          6  they, again, considered for promotional purposes?

          7                 MR. LONGO: Well, each union that was

          8  taken over, acquired by MTA bus company, has a

          9  seniority system, and they're honoring that

         10  seniority system that was in place.

         11                 They've moved -- we have two depots,

         12  we have JFK and we have Rockaway, and there's always

         13  been free movement between those two depots with our

         14  bargaining unit employees, and they've honored that.

         15  They've allowed that to continue. The seniority

         16  system in the maintenance department is the same.

         17  The only thing they tried to do was to change the

         18  maintenance pick around, and they made such a mess

         19  out of it because this is how they did it at MAPSTOA

         20  and we had a sit down, we must have had at least a

         21  half a dozen meetings with their middle management

         22  people to explain to them what they wanted to do

         23  wouldn't work here.

         24                 They're used to working on a larger

         25  scale. Now they have to shrink everything down to
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          2  smaller scales and some things that worked on a

          3  larger scale will not work on a smaller scale and

          4  vice-versa.

          5                 So, they're trying to adapt along

          6  with us, and they took some of our suggestions and

          7  we were able to work out a new pick for the

          8  maintenance department that both sides gave a little

          9  on and we were able to get something we could work

         10  with.

         11                 But I didn't want them to shoot

         12  themselves in the foot. If they had put out the pick

         13  that they were going to put out in that maintenance

         14  department, you wouldn't have had service on the

         15  road, and I was trying to explain to them why, the

         16  way the system is set up and why it's set up that

         17  way.

         18                 They're top-heavy management. They do

         19  everything from the top. It's top down. When we were

         20  set up, it would be almost equivalent to a Japanese

         21  car assembly line, where anybody on that assembly

         22  line stopped the assembly line, what was the

         23  American way of doing it at one time, now they're

         24  doing it also this way, well, only the top manager

         25  could do it. Well, that's how MTA is set up, only
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          2  the top guy can stop it. The guy at the bottom

          3  can't. So everything comes from the top down rather

          4  than from the bottom up, and it's a different way of

          5  managing that we had.

          6                 Our management system was much

          7  lighter, it was much more fluid, it could move a lot

          8  quicker, the way we had it. If we had the funding

          9  MTA bus had and we had the equipment that MTA bus

         10  was getting, I'm sure that the people we had in

         11  there could have done that job also, if you gave us

         12  the tools to do it. But it's the City's right to

         13  take that service, and the did, and they moved us

         14  over there, and we're looking forward. We're not

         15  looking backwards.

         16                 MR. CORDIELLO: On the seniority issue

         17  of command, the seniority, as John said, in our

         18  location, because we were in a separate entity, the

         19  seniority remains the same.

         20                 The only time that the seniority

         21  would become an issue, when you talk about in the

         22  scope of the whole MTA, is if they tried to

         23  commingle us. That would become the difficulty. How

         24  do you commingle us? Whose date is honored and whose

         25  date is not honored?
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          2                 So, as long as we stay separate

          3  entities, the seniority is not an issue.

          4                 As far as wages, I was going to

          5  answer your wage part of that, we're not getting

          6  parity with the MTA bus drivers.

          7                 MR. LONGO: We want parity.

          8                 MR. CORDIELLO: That's one of the

          9  issues.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: What's the

         11  differences in wages at this point?

         12                 MR. CORDIELLO: It's a couple of

         13  dollars.

         14                 MR. LONGO: Yes, it's about $2.00 an

         15  hour.

         16                 MR. CORDIELLO: It's a couple dollars

         17  an hour.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: MTA being paid

         19  higher by two dollars.

         20                 MR. LONGO: They want to give us

         21  pattern raises. They don't want to give us parity.

         22  We've asked for parity and pattern. We think they're

         23  holding that off, trying for another run at their

         24  regional bus bill up in Albany, and try to get that

         25  through before they offer us parity.
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          2                 But we do have a good argument. We

          3  are in the same city doing the same job, and by the

          4  same MTA organization and we should be receiving the

          5  same wages, benefits.

          6                 And the other thing we asked them for

          7  was the MTA Civil Service Pension Plan, the 25/55 of

          8  pay. They said absolutely not at this point. Now,

          9  what we do have in place is a unit plan under our

         10  pension, and that's what we're trying to enhance.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: I agree with you

         12  totally. Basically you earned the same patch, you

         13  know, same uniform, hopefully sometime soon, doing

         14  the same job. Obviously we want fair and equitable

         15  compensation. So, I do wish you luck on that issue,

         16  because I think that's, again, an issue that should

         17  have been addressed knowing that these two sets of

         18  workers were going to be working doing the same job.

         19                 So, I do wish you luck on that point.

         20                 Any other questions from my

         21  colleagues?

         22                 Last point, gentlemen. I know what

         23  direction I want to take with this after this

         24  hearing. Is there any last issues you want to

         25  address? If not, what direction or how you think the
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          2  City Council can help?

          3                 MR. CORDIELLO: I would just like to

          4  say that on the lines of what you were just saying,

          5  put us, we're doing the same job, give us the same

          6  pensions, give us the same wages, and if they're not

          7  willing to do that, at least negotiate with us on

          8  those issues.

          9                 If you're going to keep us separate,

         10  then deal with us each separate and don't say, well,

         11  this is the package we're giving everybody else. We

         12  don't have the same starting package. You know, we

         13  don't have the same starting point, so to give it to

         14  us, it still keeps us down. And that's what I would

         15  ask, that we all be put on the same page.

         16                 MR. LONGO: Right. These are pieces,

         17  this is a pie and there's pieces in that pie, and if

         18  we're not going to be getting parity over here, give

         19  it to us in another area over here. And they don't

         20  want to do that. They want to take -- they don't

         21  want to give us the good things that are in the TA

         22  package, but they do want to give us the things that

         23  are not so good as what we have now. They want to

         24  more or less split it up and only give us a portion

         25  of it and not all of it. So, that's part of the
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          2  problem with the negotiations. They want things

          3  back. You know, they have what they call

          4  productivity gains, they want back, but then they

          5  don't want to give on the other part. And they want

          6  to do cost shifting a lot, and that's just an old

          7  management type of trick that they've always been

          8  doing.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: And to Mr.

         10  Cordiello's part, the bottom line, pattern

         11  bargaining, you know, what's right for one is not

         12  right for the other. We can separate the issues

         13  here. The parity can be separated. And as far as

         14  negotiating give-backs, I believe in that.

         15                 So, I don't believe it should be a

         16  broad stroke for everybody. I think the issues are

         17  separate and distinct, and I think we can negotiate

         18  each, you know, item separately.

         19                 MR. LONGO: Well, they're used to

         20  doing that, and that's part of the problem. When

         21  they negotiate with TWU Local 100 on the TA, on the

         22  public side, 34-, 35,000 members, there are two

         23  other ATU locals in there, and one is 1056 and one

         24  is 726 from Staten Island, and 1056 in Queens

         25  Village, they didn't negotiate the large three,
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          2  which is wages, medical and pension, with the

          3  primary union, which is TWU, Local 100, then they

          4  break off from that. And there is some input by

          5  these two ATU locals. The primary negotiation is

          6  done with Roger Toussaint and TWU, then they break

          7  off and they cost it out for the other two locals,

          8  and then there are other things put into the

          9  contract, you know, side agreements or different

         10  type of benefits are given that they want for their

         11  membership.

         12                 What they're trying to do is the same

         13  thing over here, but they're doing it right from the

         14  get-go. They want to take the TA contract,

         15  negotiating with Roger, and bring it over to the

         16  private side, and then just, as Mike said, settle

         17  with us and not really negotiate with us over these

         18  issues that we have, and that's a big stumbling

         19  block.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Being mindful

         21  that your membership, these are the workers that

         22  obviously that keep our buses running, and the

         23  bottom line, affects our City ridership, a lot of

         24  your members are City residents, so we have an

         25  interest in this, even though the MTA may not be a
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          2  City agency obviously, and many people might feel

          3  that this issue alone may be outside the

          4  jurisdiction of the City Council. The bottom line is

          5  because of the fact so many of our City residents,

          6  as well as City workers, the workers who live in the

          7  City, I'm not going to shy away from this issue. I

          8  am hopeful that we can work together, you know, with

          9  the MTA and the Administration to again resolve a

         10  lot of these issues.

         11                 The pension issue to me is one of the

         12  biggest hurdles to be jumped over because of this

         13  complexity, but hopefully we can address it

         14  together.

         15                 Gentlemen, seeing no other further

         16  questions, I do thank you for your time and

         17  testimony today, and we look forward to keeping in

         18  touch with you.

         19                 MR. LONGO: Thank you, Chair Addabbo.

         20                 MR. CORDIELLO: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you.

         22                 Anybody else who wishes to testify?

         23                 If not, my guess is this is not going

         24  to be the last time we address this issue. Hopefully

         25  the next time we do address this issue, we will have
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          2  better news.

          3                 We hope for a more quicker timetable

          4  in resolving and addressing these issues, both in

          5  service and labor issues. And again, not only for

          6  the City ridership, but also for the workers who

          7  keep these buses rolling, and who are driving these

          8  buses, and also are our City residents. So, the

          9  Committee will follow-up, and I am going to address

         10  the fact that the MTA was not here today, and I will

         11  reach out to Local 100. Hopefully together we can

         12  find some resolve to these issues.

         13                 Once again, I want to thank all those

         14  who are here today who put this Committee together,

         15  thank those who testified. Have a good day,

         16  everyone. Meeting adjourned.

         17                 (Hearing concluded at 11:25 a.m.)
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